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KAMILAH WILLINGHAM, Previously Sworn.

THE CLERK: You’'re reminded you’re still under
oath in this matter.

MS. TAGLIARENI: May I proceed?

THE COURT: You may proceed.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

) Good morning.
A Good morning.
0] Again, make sure you keep your voice up really

high. Okay?

A All right. TI’'1l1l try.

0] When we had left of on Tuesday, you’d stated that
when you came back to your apartment in Cambridge in
the early-morning hours of January 15th, 2011, that
I vent into your bedroom, and she was on the bed,
facing the wall; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Do you recall if she was still wearing her outside
winter coat at that time?

A I think her outside coat was off. But she still
had a second coat on underneath.

0 And what size bed did you have in your room at
that time?

A A full-size bed.

0 When you went into the room and saw [Jjjj on the

3
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT -
bed, what lights, if any, were on at that time?

A I believe there was a lamp on my nightstand that
was still on.

Q Were there any other lights that were just in your
room?

A There was an overhead light, I think.

Q And do you recall if that was on or off at that
time when you first came into your bedroom after
returning?

A I don't remember.

0 At that time could you see what [Jjjjj was wearing?
A I could see that she still had her jeans on. And,

yeah, she had her second jacket on.
0 And how were you feeling at that time?
A I was feeling like I was about to pass out.
Pretty ill and uncomfortable.
0] And where were you at that time that you were
feeling ill?
A I was still on the bed.
(0] Where was Brandon?
MR. ZALKIND: Objection to the feeling ill,
your Honor. She said she was about to pass out.
THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0 Where was Brandon at that time?

4
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT -

A He was also on the bed.
0] And what, if anything, was he doing at that time?
A He had just moved [l up to the right side of the

bed next to the wall, and he was trying to move me onto

the other side of him. So he was in the middle.
0 Can you describe what you mean by he moved |l
A Yeah, he, like, picked her up and dragged her to

the side of the bed.

0 Could you tell at that time if [Jjjjjj was awake?
A She seemed totally unconscious.
0] And when you said that he moved you, can you

describe what happened then?
A Yeah. I started feeling sweaty and sicker again.

And I got up and made my way to the bathroom.

0] The question was, you said that Brandon moved you.
A Yeah.

0] Can you describe what you meant by Brandon moved
you?

A Yeah. I think he put his hands under my arms or

something to pull me up to the side of the bed it

seemed like he was trying to put me on.

0 And where were you, with respect to [l at that
time?
A On the opposite side of the bed.

Q After that happened, what, if anything, did you

5
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do?
A I got up and I went to the bathroom. And I got
sick. And I don't know how long I was in there.

And, yeah, I came back out. And I think in the
hallway, or somewhere between the bathroom and my
bedroom, I took off my jeans. And I was still wearing
leggings underneath them. And I went back into the
bedroom.

Q Let me ask you this. At that time, after you took
off your jeans, you said that you were wearing
leggings. What else were you wearing at that time?

A The shirt that I’'d gone out in. It was this, like

—--— it was a long shirt that fit kind of like a dress.

And I think that was it. I might have been wearing a
sweater.
0 Did you have anything on underneath that shirt

that you just described?

A Yeah. I had a bra underneath the shirt.

0 And did you have anything on underneath your
leggings?

A Underwear.

0] And after you left the bathroom and you took off

your jeans, where did you go at that point?
A Then I went back to my bedroom.

0 And when you walked in, was that light that you

6
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described on your nightstand, was that still on at that

point?
A Yes.
0 And what, if anything, did you see when you walked

into the room?
A I saw il still in the bed, against the wall,
still unconscious, and Brandon was sitting up, kind of
in the middle of the bed.
0] And what happened when you walked into the room?
A I walked in. I tried to put myself on the bed in
between them, and he, Brandon, I think he kind of
laughed at me and he moved me to the outside of the
bed.
0] Why did you try to get in between Brandon and
I

MR. ZALKIND: Objection.

THE COURT: Sidebar.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)

THE COURT: The objection is sustained.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0 Could you see at any point when you first got back
into the apartment and you were in your bedroom, or
when you returned from the bathroom, did you see |}
and Brandon engaged in any kind of touching at any

point?

7
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT -

A No. Only when he was moving her.
0 After, you said, Brandon positioned you on the

bed, what happened at that point?

A Before I went to the bathroom?
0] No, after you came back from the bathroom.
A He put me on the outside of the bed, and then I

passed out.

0 And with respect to il clothes when you came
back from the bathroom, what clothes could you see that
she was still wearing?

A She was still wearing her jacket and I think I
remember seeing her jeans. Yeah, I think I remember
that she still had her jeans on.

0] And when you say jacket, you don’'t mean her winter
coat; is that correct?

A Yeah.

0] And after you were positioned by the defendant on
the bed, after you came back from the bathroom, what
happened at this point?

A Then I fell asleep.

0] And what is the next thing that you remember after
falling asleep?

A I woke up and he was kissing me. I felt his
mouth. And at first he was leaning over me, and then I

think he was on top of me. And then he was out of the

8
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT - 9

bed. And I heard, I heard him go into the bathroom.

0] And when you say he, who are you talking about?

A Brandon.

(0] And after he left the room, what at that point?

A I heard him go into the bathroom. And I couldn’t

stay awake, so I passed out again.
0] When you woke up at that point, were there any

lights on in your bedroom that you can remember?

A No.

0] You can’t remember, or there weren’t any lights?
A Oh, there weren’'t any lights on.

0] And you said you fell back to sleep. What’s the

next thing you remember after that?
A The next thing I remember is waking up with him on

top of me. His hand was inside of my tights. I didn’'t

know how long it had been there. I remember pulling it
out of my tights. And he was kissing me and touching
me. I don't know how long that was.

But at some point I think I -- I think I pulled his

hair a little bit just to get my face --

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, “just to get.”

THE COURT: I'm sorry.

MR. ZALKIND: She'’'s explaining why she pulled
his hair. She pulled his hair.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, there hasn’t been a
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT - 10

further answer at this point, so.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0] When you woke up at that point where there any
lights on in your bedroom?

A No.

0] What, if any, light was coming into your bedroom
at that time?

A There was light from the window. My window kind
of led to a corridor of windows. The common hallway is
across from that, and there were always these
fluorescent lights that were on.

0] And when you said that he was on top of you, who

are you talking about?

A Brandon was on top of me.

0] How was he on top of you? Could you describe
that?

A I don’'t really know how to describe it. He was

mounting me, like.

0] And what were you wearing at that time, if you
recall?
A I was till wearing my tights and the shirt that T

fell asleep in.
0 And you said that at some point you pulled his
hair. What happened at that point?

A Then he stopped kissing my mouth. And I think T
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE III - 11

said something to him, I think I mentioned his

girlfriend. I think I said, “Brandon, you're, like,
married,” or something like that. And he said, *“Oh,
yeah.”

And I reached out because I was trying to sit up.

I reached out my hand and just felt, like, naked skin,
which was [l back- And it took me a second to
remember, like, where we were and that [jjjj was still
on the bed.
0 Could you see what, if anything, | was wearing
at that time, after you touched naked skin?
A As far as I could see, she was naked, at least
from the waist up, where the blanket was.
0 And what, if anything, did you do at that point,
after you realized that?
A I think I asked why is [ naked?

MR. ZALKIND: I object. Can I approach the
sidebar, please?

THE COURT: Yes.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0 What position was [jjjj in at that time?
A She was still on her side, facing the wall.
0 And you said that you said something to Brandon;

is that correct?
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A Yes.

0 What did you say at that point?

A I said, “Why is [ naked?”

0] And what, if anything, did he say in response to
that?

A I don’t think he responded to that.

0] Was there any more conversation between you and

Brandon about that?

A Yes.

(0] And what was that?

A I asked something like, “Who took |l shirt
off?” At that point he reached over and touched her
and he said, “I did. I did.” And it looked like he

was stroking her side at that point.

o) Side of what?

A The side of her torso.

(0] And where was he when he was doing that?

A He was still on top of me.

0 And how were you positioned at that time?

A I was on my back. I think I might have been

propped up on my elbow.

0] And when he started touching her torso, as you
described, what happened at that point?

A I pushed his hand -- sorry. I think I asked, um

- I'm sorry. I don't remember the order of the

12
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT - 13

conversation.

0] That’s all right. The question is just -- let me
ask you this. You said that you saw him touch her
torso?

A Yes.

0 Did you see him touch any other part of her body?
A Yeah.

0 What part of her body did you see him touch?

A He later touched her breasts, kind of leaned into

me and got his hand farther up. Yeah.
0 And when the defendant was touching [}

breasts, was she awake at that point?

A No.

Q Can you describe how he was touching her breasts?
A It seemed like he was cupping them, like, stroking
them.

0] And what, if anything, did you do at that time

when you saw that?

A I pushed his hand away.

Q Did you say anything to him?

A I think I just said, *“No.”

0 And what else was happening at that time, if
anything?

A He was still on top of me, still leaning into me.

Q Was he touching you at all?
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Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT - 14

A Yeah. His other hand was on me.

(0] Where on you?

A I think it was on my breast.

Q When you say you think it was on your breast, do

you have a specific memory of him touching your breast?

A Yeah.
0] And what, if anything, did you do at that time?
A I just said no again. And he said, “Should I

stop?” And I said yes.
He said, “Have I been bad?” And I said yes.

And he asked me if he should go and sleep on the

couch. I said yes.
0] What happened at that point?
A He got off me and out of the bed. And then T

could see, it became clear that he was just wearing his
boxers. And he walked out of my room.

And I think I told him while he was on his way out
that he could go and take the spare bedroom if it

wasn'’'t comfortable on the couch.

0 Why did you let him stay in the spare bedroom?

A To be honest, I don't know. Because I knew it was
cold in the living room, and I -- yeah, I mean, I --

0 You didn’t tell him to leave -- well, let me ask
you this. Did you tell him to leave your apartment at

that time?
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A No.
0] Why didn’t you tell him to leave?
MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.
THE COURT: I'll allow that one.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
Q Go ahead.
A I was just confused. And my biggest priority was
just figuring out what was going on and having him out

of my room, and I couldn’t really think past that.

(0] After that, did he leave your bedroom?

A Yes.

0 And what happened at that point?

A I heard him, he popped out on the couch. And then

he called out and said that he was going to take the

other bedroom after all.

0] And what, if anything, did you do at that time?
A I put my hand on |l back and kind of tried to
shake her and called her name. And she didn’t respond.

I think I turned the light on.

And I just tried to wake her up. I was calling her
name. I was looking for her clothes. I moved the
blanket a little and I saw that she was still wearing
her leggings but not her jeans.

And I was looking for her clothes. And I saw her

bra was in front of her, almost like she was holding on




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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to it. And I tried to pull it, and it was stuck on her
earring. And it gave her earring, like, a pretty good
yvank. And she was still not responding to anything
that I was doing or saying.

0 Could you see if anything besides her bra being

caught on her earring, if anything was on the top of

her body?

A Nothing at all.

Q And did you do anything else to try to wake her
up?

A Yeah. I called out her name. I said, “|}jj}}}

B I just need you to wake up for a second. I want
to know what happened.”

She didn’'t respond at all. I got up and went to
the kitchen to get some water, and I came back with a
glass bottle. And I drank some, and I put the glass

against her back to see if that would wake her up.

0 Did she have any reaction to that, when you did
that?

A Nothing at all.

0] At any point were you able to wake her up?

A Yeah. At some point she mumbled back to me and
said something that just didn’t make any sense. She

said, like, “I'm getting on the bus.”

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor, to what
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she said.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may we approach?
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
o] You said that [Jjjjjj said something about the bus.
Can you describe what she said at that point?
A Yeah. She said, “I'm getting on the bus. I'm
gonna take the bus home.”
0 And what did you do at that point?
A I told her that didn’t make any sense. And I just
told her, like, “I just need you to answer a couple of
questions. You can go back to sleep. What happened
with Brandon?”
0 Did she say anything at that point?
A She seemed like she’d passed out again. And I
kind of kept shaking her and I said, “Who took your
shirt off” or “Who undressed you?”

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0] Go ahead.

A And she just, like, mumbled back, “I don't know.

I don't know who did it. I didn’t. You must have done
it.”

0 Did you ask her anything else?
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A I asked if she and Brandon hooked up, “What did he
do to you?”

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0] At some point did she fall back to sleep?
A Yeah.
Q And did you have any other conversations that

night with Brandon Winston?

A Yeah.
(0] When and where was that?
A It was, I think, shortly after conversation with

I I vent into the room where he was sleeping and

confronted him.

0] Was he asleep when you walked into that room?

A Yes.

Q And what did you do at that point?

A I turned on the light and called out his name.

And he woke up. He held out his arm, like he was
inviting me to the bed. I mean, I just called his name
again and said, “We need talk. I need to know what

happened with i And I told him that I tried to
wake her up and, you know, I said she was, like, dead
and that, yeah, that I couldn’t wake her up and she

wasn’t responding. And I was just, like, “What
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happened?”
Q What, if anything, did he say at that point?
A He said, first he said he didn’'t remember. And

then he said that, yeah, they started hooking up after
I fell asleep, and then they stopped when he got tired
and fell asleep.

And I said, “No, you went to the bathroom, when she

was sleeping you went to the bathroom. I don’'t
understand. Was she awake for any of it?”
And he said, “Yeah, of course she was.” And then

kind of changed his story and said that they started
hooking up after I fell asleep and then she started
passing out, and then he stopped when it became clear
that she was sleeping.

And I said, I said, “I mean, why didn’t you just
let her sleep? I mean, she was asleep, she was asleep,
yeah, she just seemed like she was sleeping. Why
didn’t you just let her sleep?”

And he said -- I think I might have asked him a few
more questions. I don't remember what. And then he
said again that, I think, just, like some variation of
that story, that -- he made it sound this time like she
was falling asleep while they were hooking up and that
he, like, continued in an attempt to wake her up --

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.
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THE COURT: Sustained.
MR. ZALKIND: Motion to strike what she said.
THE COURT: The motion to strike is allowed as
to the testimony that started with, “He made it sound
like.” That testimony and the testimony after it is
stricken, and the jury shall disregard it.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
Q At some point did that conversation with the

defendant end?

A Yeah.

0 And where did you go at that point?

A I went back to my room.

Q And at any point after that did you leave your
apartment?

A Yeah.

0 When was that?

A At seven a.m. I went to the deli downstairs to get

a sandwich.

0] From the time when you left your roommate’s room
where Brandon was, after that conversation you just
described, until about seven a.m. when you went out of
your apartment, did you fall back to sleep during that
point?

A No.

0] And you said that at seven you left your
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apartment. Where did you go at that point?
A There was a deli downstairs. I think it was
downstairs in our building. And I went to get a

sandwich, and I brought it back upstairs.

0 Where was [l at that time?

A She was still asleep in my bed.

(0] And where was Brandon at that time?

A He was still in my roommate’s room.

0] About how long were you out of your apartment?

A It couldn’t have been more than fifteen minutes.
0 And what did you do after you went downstairs to

that store?
A I came back upstairs, I ate the sandwich. I tried
to offer [ some, but she didn’t wake up or respond
again.
0 Why did you leave [JjjjJ and Brandon in the
apartment at that time?

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0] When you got back to the apartment and you said
you tried to offer some of the sandwich to [ was
she awake at that time?
A No.

Q And at any point after that did you have another
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conversation, any other conversation with the
defendant?

A Yeah. When he came back into my room, I think,
like, between eight and nine, and I was laying in the
bed. I don’'t -- I don't remember if I was sleeping.
But he came back into my room. And I think I was
pretending to be asleep because I didn’t know how to
interact with him.

0] And what happened when he came into your bedroom?
A He kneeled next to my bed. At first it seemed
like he was trying to get back into the bed, and I
said, “Hey.” And he kneeled next to the bed and put
his head on my pillow and he asked me if I was okay.
0 What did you say, if anything, to that?

A I said, “No, I'm not, and [l not going to be
either when she wakes up and doesn’t know why she’s

half naked.”

0] Did he have any response to that?

A Yeah.

(0] What was that?

A I said, “I'm sowwy.”

0 And when you say that, how do you mean it? Like,

how would you spell sowwy at that point?
A Like, with w’s.

0 And what, if anything, did you say when he said
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that?
A I don’'t think I responded. I told him that she
was gonna freak out. And he said, he asked me if I

talked to her, and I said I tried to but she just kind
of mumbled at me. And he said, “Well, maybe she’ll
think that you undressed her.”

And I said, “I think she already does.”

And he said, *“Thanks, K. I owe you one.”
0] What happened at that point?
A He got dressed. And I think he said where he was

going, like, to class, and he left.

0] During that conversation that you had with the
defendant, was [ avake?

A No.

0] At some point did you leave your bedroom after the
defendant left your apartment?

A After he left I finally went to sleep.

0 And at some point did you leave your bedroom

before [ vwoke up?

A No.

0 And where were you when [Jjjj woke up?

A I was still in bed.

0] And what happened when she woke up?

A I don't know when exactly she woke up, but when I

woke up I found her on the couch.
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0] So when you woke up, was anyone else in your
bedroom?

A No.

0] And when you woke up, what did you do?

A I went out to find her. And she was just waking.

And then we just talked.

0] Do you remember approximately what time that was?
A Maybe ten or eleven.

(0] But you’'re not sure?

A No.

Q At some point did you have any other communication

with Brandon Winston on January 15th, 201172

A Yes.

0 And what kind of communication was that?
A He texted me.

Q And did you then text him back?

A Yes.

MS. TAGLIARENI: And, your Honor, may I
approach?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. ZALKIND: No objection, your Honor.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

o) Ms. Willingham, I'm showing you a two-page
document. Do you recognize this document?
A Yes.
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Q And what do you recognize this to be?
A It’'s a printout of our text messages.
0 And what’s the first date, with respect to the

text messages in this document?

A November 11th, 2010.

0] And what is the last date, on the second page?

A January 18th, 2011.

Q And there’s a phone number associated with these
texts. Do you recognize that?

A I think that’s Brandon’s number. It --

0] And -- I'm sorry.

A It was.

0 And when it says, “in,” is that a message from

this phone number associated with Brandon Winston, to
your phone?

A Yes.

0 And when it says, *“out, is that a message that you
sent to Brandon Winston'’s phone?”

A Yes.

0] And drawing your attention to the second page,
where it says January 15th, 2011, about the sixth line
down, is that a message from Brandon Winston or to
Brandon Winston?

A From him.

0] And what does that message say?
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A He says, “How are you? Did we really send that
video to your mom? Haha.”

0 And did you reply to him at that point?

A Yeah.

0 And what did you say?

A I said, “I'm okay. Mom liked the video. [
super sick. Haha. Should I tell her to take a
pregnancy test?”

0 Did he reply to you at that point?

A Yeah.

0 And what did he say?

A He said, *“Very funny, Kamilah.”

0] And was there another message right after that?
A Yes.

0 And what did he say?

A “Haha. I hope she gets better. I'm trying to
finish this brief in the library before the game
starts.”

0 Did you then reply at that point?

A Yes.

0 What did you say?

A I said, “Haha. But for realz, did you put your p
in her v?2”

0 And when you said “put your p in her v,” what did

you mean at that point?

26
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A I meant did he have sexual intercourse with her.
0 What did you specifically mean by p in v?

A Penis in her vagina.

0 And what was his response at that point?

A He said, “No!! I passed out after some minor
touchings, no more than what you and I were doing. A

finger briefly in the v at most.”
0] And was there another message right after that

from him?

A Yes.

Q What did it say?

A “Tell her not to worry.”

0 Did you reply at that point?

A Yes.

0 And what did you say?

A I said, “She has no idea. Trying to explain to

her why she woke up topless was dramatic enough, so I
think I might just save her the therapy expenses and
keep quiet.”

0 And then there are about five messages into your
phone from Brandon Winston’s phone number at that
point; is that correct?

A Yeah.

0 And are some of them -- they’re in succession.

Are some of them confused as to the order that they

27
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come in?
A Yeah.
0] And so the next messages, if you read the second

one, what does that say?

A It says, “Sounds right. You’ll have to tell me
in”

0] And then it goes on to the next one. What does
that say?

A “in person how that went. Call”

0] And then it goes to another one. What does it

say? “Call” --
A “me. I can be of any help for anything.” And
then there’s half a word.
0] And is that basically the sum of the text messages
conversations you had with Brandon Winston or Brandon
Winston’s phone on January 15th, 20112
A Yes.

MS. TAGLIARENI: I’'d move to enter this as the
next numbered exhibit.

MR. ZALKIND: No objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: It may be admitted.

(Exhibit No. 4, admitted; Printout of Text
Messages To/From Brandon Winston and Kamilah
wWillingham, 11/11/10-1/18/11, 2 Pages.)

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
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Q Drawing your attention to the next day, did you

have an instant message conversation with Brandon

Winston?
A Yes.
Q And how did you do that? What kind of device were

you on at that time?
A On my computer.
0] And what type of instant messenger were you using
at that time?
A I think I was using a service called Jabber.
Yeah.
MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may I approach?
THE COURT: You may.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

Q I'm showing you a document. Do you recognize
that?

A Yeah.

0] And what do you recognize that to be?

A I think it’s a screen shot of one of those
messages.

0 And what’s the date associated with it?

A January 16th, 2011.

0 And when it says, “Kamilah,” is that from your
computer?

A Yes.
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0] And when it says, “Brandon J. Winston” it that an

item you associated with Brandon Winston?

A Yes.

0] And what did you say at the top?

A I said, “Hey, Brandon. Just fyi, we gotta talk
soon. And I think you owe [jj some explanation and an
apology.”

0] And what was the response from Brandon J. Winston

at that time?

A He said, “Yeah, I agree. Will contact you soon.
Okay?2?"”

0 And what did you write back?

A I said, *“K.”

0 And is that a fair and accurate representation of

an I.M., a Jabber I.M. conversation you had with the
computer you associated with Brandon J. Winston on
January 16th, 201172
A Yes.

MS. TAGLIARENI: I'd move to enter this as the
next numbered exhibit.

MR. ZALKIND: No objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: It may be admitted.

(Exhibit No. 5, admitted; Screen Shot of
1/16/11 Jabber I.M. Conversation Between Brandon J.

Winston and Kamilah Willingham.)
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BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0Q Did you have a further I.M., Jabber I.M.,

conversation with Brandon J. Winston on January 17th,

20112

A Yes.

0] I'm showing you a document. Do you recognize
that?

A Yeah.

0] And what do you recognize that to be?

A It’'s a screen shot of the conversation.

0] And how does it start out at the top?

A It starts out with Brandon messaging me.

0 And saying what?

A He says, “Hey."”

0 And then what?

A The next message is, “When can you talk?”

0 And that was him sending it to you?

A Yes.

0] And what do you reply?

A I said, “I don't know. This weekend has kind of

turned into a shit storm.”

0 And what was his response at that time?
A He said, “With work?”
0 And what did you say?

A I said, “No, with you.”

31
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0 And did he reply two lines at that point?

A Yeah.

0 And what did they say?

A “Can we talk then? I want to do what I can to
straighten this out.”

0] And you then replied in three lines; is that
right?

A Yes.

0] Can you read those?

A I said, “Yeah. I'm just not sure what we would
talk about or how we can straighten anything out
without | here. And to be honest, I have no idea
how to talk about it.”

0] And what was his response?

A He said, “I see. Let’s get her around here. Let
me know when. Sorry to make trouble for you , K.W.”
0] And you then replied in two lines; is that
correct?

A Yes.

0 What did you say at that time?

A I said, “No, I'm a little pissed, BJ You

seriously breached my trust, like in a big fucking
way."”
0 And what did he say?

A He said, “I feel terrible. Can we please talk?”

32
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0 And what did you then say in the next two lines?

A I said, “I don't know. If you can imagine what it
was like to explain to [Jjjjjj why she woke up with fewer
clothes on than she fell asleep in or that she may have
been touched in her sleep and that you probably
fingered her. And I’'ve been thinking about it over and
over, and I don't know how you can excuse any of that.”
0] And then there are two responses from Brandon J.

Winston; is that correct?

A Yeah.

0 And what did they say?

A He said, “I can't. It was reckless of me and I
apologize. K, I remember it better now. There wasn’t
any real touching going on. No fingering. I took her
shirt off and then passed out. The next day I was

still so wrecked I couldn’t remember it very clearly.”

0] You then replied in two lines; is that right?

A Yeah.

0 What did you sat at that point?

A I said, “Seriously? And her bra and her jeans?”
Q And what did he say at that point?

A “Yes."”

0] And then you replied again in two lines; is that
correct?

A Yes.
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0 And what did they say?

A “And how is any of that okay when you saw how
wrecked she was at Middlesex and when she passed out
the moment we got into my apartment?”

0 And what was his response at that point?

A “It wasn't. I'm sorry. It wasn't. I was hoping
she would wake up. But when I realized she wasn’'t, I
quit it.”

0 And then what did you say?

A “When is it ever okay to initiate something with
someone while she’s asleep?”

0 And then he replied in three lines; is that
correct?

A Yeah.

0 And what did they say?

A “Never. I was seriously wrecked and I went too
far. I wasn’t trying to force her. I know it sounds
like it. I was talking to her the whole time and she
was talking back, but in that passed-out mumbling way
that is essentially being asleep. And I was totally
reckless, I know. I’'m sorry.”

0 And what did you reply at that point?

A “Did you do anything with me while I was asleep?”
0 And is that the sum conversation on this document

that day on your Jabber I.M.?

34
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A Yes.

MS. TAGLIARENI: I’'d move to enter this as the
next numbered exhibit.

THE COURT: There being no objection, it may be
admitted.

MR. ZALKIND: No objection.

(Exhibit No. 6, admitted; Screen Shot of
1/17/11 Jabber I.M. Conversation Between Brandon
Winston and Kamilah Willingham.)
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0] Do you recall if there was any response when you
said, “Did you do anything to me” when you were asleep?
A Yeah. I don’t think he responded to that.
0 At any time after January 15th did you find

something in your trash can in your bathroom?

A Yes.

0 What did you find?

A I found a condom there.

0 Was it still in it’s wrapping?

A No. No, it was just between some tissues.

Q And you indicated earlier that you had been in

Africa at some point in December and January; is that
correct?
A Yes.

0] Do you remember approximately when you left your




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE III - 36

apartment, with respect to that trip to Africa?

A Early December.

0] And you indicated that your roommate was not home
around this time period of January 14th and 15th; is

that right?

A Yes.

0] And do you recall when approximately she left the
apartment?

A I think she left before I did, at the very

beginning of December.

0 And when you said that you found this condom in
the trash, was there any other trash in the trash can
at that time?

A Yeah, there was a little bit. I don't remember
exactly what.

0] Do you remember how recently, prior to your
finding that, you had emptied that trash can?

A I don't.

0 Was it something that you emptied on a regular
basis, to your knowledge, back then?

A Not really. My roommate usually did it.

0 And when you found that condom, what, if anything,
did you do with it?

A I put it back immediately. Yeah.

0 Did you do anything else with it?
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A No.
Q At some point did you collect it?
A I didn’'t. But when I called the police over

later, I left it for them.

0] And to your knowledge was it collected by the
police?

A Yes.

0 And did you know what was going to happen to that
condom?

A That they were going to test it to see whose it
was.

0 At that time, in January 2011, did you believe

that that condom belonged to you?

A No.

0] And with respect to January 15th, or that
timeframe in 2011, how recently had you had sex where
you had used a condom?

A I think, like, maybe in November.

0 And do you have a specific memory of emptying your
trash after that point?

A No.

0] After you had those Jabber I.M. conversations with
the defendant, did you meet up with him at some point?
A Yes.

0] And do you recall when that was?
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A I think it was the next day.

0] The next day after what?

A After the I.M. conversation.

0 And how did you discuss meeting up with him?

A I don't remember. I think he said we should talk

in person, and I agreed.
MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may I approach?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
Q I'm showing you the second page of Exhibit 4,
which you’ve identified as text messages. Are there
any text messages on January 18th, 201172
A Yes.
0] And the first one, is that a message that you sent

to Brandon Winston’s phone?

A Yes.

0 And what does it say?

A “Can we talk soon?”

(0] And was there a response from him?

A Yes.

0 And what does it say?

A “Yes. I'm a around now and through the
afternoon.”

0] And there’'s another message that you sent; is that
correct?
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A Yes.

0 And what did you say?

A ‘Bl meet at Starbucks or something?”

0 And what is the response at that point?

A He said, “Yeah. cc? 1It’s more private.”

0 And then do you go on to discuss a timeframe?
A Yes.

0 And at some point did you meet up with Brandon
Winston?

A Yes.

(0] Where was that?

A Cambridge Common. It’s a bar or restaurant that

was across the street from my apartment.

0] And is that what you took to mean as “cc” in those
text messages?

A Yes.

0] And what happened when you met up with Brandon
Winston at Cambridge Common on January 18th, 20117?

A We sat in a booth, and I just tried to get him to

tell me more about what happened.

(0] And what do you recall about that conversation?
A I think he told me the same, that he didn’t
remember much. And towards the end of the conversation

I told him that I'd found this condom and I asked him

if he remembered it or knew anything about it.
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0] And what was his response when you brought up the
condom?
A He said he didn’t. And he held up his wallet and

said that he keeps his one condom in there and that he
hasn’t touched it and, yeah, that he didn’t know
anything about the condom.

I think he asked me if there was anything inside of

it and if there was a wrapper near it.

Q And at some point did that conversation end?
A Yes.
0] Drawing your attention to the two months or so

leading up to the night of January 14th, you indicated
in Exhibit 4 that you had been texting back and forth,
starting from November 11th, 2010, with the defendant;

is that correct?

A Yes.

0] And were you friend at that point?

A Yes.

0 And during that time period when you were texting

him, were you at all interested in him in a romantic

way?
A No.
0 And do you recall, when you were in Africa,

communicating with him?

A Yes.
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0 And how did you communicate with him when you were
in Africa?

A I think we video chatted once, but I'm not, I
don't know.

0 And while you were in Africa with [ did
anything happen between the two of you, anything
romantic or anything like that?

A No.

0 And at any time when you came back from Africa did
you confide in the defendant something about [}

A Yeah. I told him that I was kind of, I don't
know, annoyed with her because we’'d spent so much time
together.

0] And do you recall when you did that, when you
talked to him about that, with respect to the night of
January 14th?

A I think it was the week before.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may I have a

moment?

THE COURT: You may.
(Pause.)

MS. TAGLIARENI: I have no further questions.
Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Cross examination.

MR. ZALKIND: Do you want to start now, or do
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you want to take a break?

THE COURT: Well, we’ll take a break at eleven,
if you don’t mind starting, Mr. Zalkind.

MR. ZALKIND: It will take me a minute to set
up.

THE COURT: Take your time.
(Pause.)

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ZALKIND:

0] Good morning, Ms. Willingham.
A Good morning.
0] Back in 2009 you were a second-year law student at

Harvard Law School; is that correct?

A Yes.

0 And in the fall of 2009 Mr. Winston, the gentleman
sitting here, he became a first-year student then; is
that correct?

A I think so.

Q And you both took a course called Clinical for

Recording Artists, or something like that; is that

correct?

A Yeah.

0 It was an elective?

A Yeah.

0] And you were considered an upperclassman, he was

considered a first year, a 1lL; is that right?
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A Yes.
0] And the course, you had to meet in groups for that

course; is that right?

A Yes.

0 And you picked him to be in your group; is that
right?

A I'm not sure I picked him.

0] Well, the upperclassmen picked the underclassmen

as who they wanted to work with?

A I don't remember that about it.

0 Well, you did work with him?

A Yes.

(0] And there were some other students who also were

on the project?
A Yes.
0] But you and he were the main people on that

project; is that correct?

A I don't know if I would say we were the main
people. We were a team.
0] Well, you did most of the work, you and Mr.

Winston; is that correct?

A I think I did a lot of the work as the group
leader.
0] So you were the group leader and you would meet

with Mr. Winston; is that right?
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A Yes.

0] And about a week -- you became pretty good
friends; is that right?

A Yes.

(0] And about a week into, or two weeks, after working
together, you went to a social event and then came back
to your apartment? Do you remember that?

A No.

0] Do you remember going back to your apartment and
having some minor sexual contact with Mr. Winston,

kissing him?

A Yes.

0] And your roommate was there?

A Yes.

0] And the two of you were, first you were in the

living room with the roommate, and then you ended up in

the bedroom for a while, and then he left; is that

right?
A Yes.
0] And then after that, until what you claim happened

on the 15th, there was no, there was never any kissing
or hugging or anything between the two of you again; is
that correct?

A Yes.

0] And you worked on that project all the way through
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May?

A I don't remember exactly how long.

0] Well, the spring; is that right?

A I don't remember the project very well.

0] And you would meet at different places to work on
this project?

A Yes.

0] And you’'d meet at coffee shops, and places in
Cambridge?

A Yes.

0] And you’'d also, sometimes you’d meet at your
house?

A Yeah, I guess so.

0] And he would come over your house a few times and

you’'d work on the project, and nothing romantic
happened in any of these places?

A That's correct.

0] And he was not showing any romantic interest in

you and you were not showing any romantic interest in

him?

A That's right.

0 And you were becoming good friends?

A Yes.

0 And, in fact, at some point you had a boyfriend

and the summer came; is that right?

45
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A Yes.

0] And in the summer you didn’t have any contact
Mr. Winston?

A I don't remember.

0 And starting in the fall, you had very little

- 46

with

contact with Mr. Winston, at the beginning of the fall,

September and October of 20107?

A I don't remember.

0] You don’t remember having any contact with him;

is that right?

A I don't remember how often we were in touch during

those months.

0] But some time around November you and Mr. Winston

went to the House of Blues?

A Okay.
0] Did you?
A I don't remember.
Q Well, --
MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness,
Honor?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Do you remember this photograph of you and Mr.

Winston at the House of Blues?

A Yes. I mean, I vaguely remember the photo.

your
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0] And do you remember being there at the House of
Blues?

A I don't.

0] But do you remember being there at some club with

Mr. Winston?

A Yeah.

(0] And that was in the fall of 2010?

A Um, --

Q Is this a fair representation of you and Mr.
Winston?

A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: I’'d offer this, your Honor.

THE COURT: Any objection?

MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.

THE COURT: It may be admitted.

(Exhibit No. 7, admitted; Photograph, Defendant
and Kamilah Willingham, Fall 2010.)

MR. ZALKIND: I'd like to put this on the
machine, if I can get this right.
(Exhibit No. 7 displayed.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] And after going to wherever it was that you were
there with him, or the House of Blues, do you remember
going to Ryles with Mr. Winston and bringing your

friend [Jj with you?
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A Yes.

0 and Il - B is that her name?

A Yeah.

Q And while you were working on your project with

Mr. Winston, she had never met him; is that right?

A Yeah, not that I know of.

0 And she was a high school friend?

A Yes.

0 She was the first person you met in Newton; is

that right?

A Yeah, Newton North.

0] And you became very close friends?

A Yes.

0 And you’'re friends with her to this day?

A Yes.

0] And you went to Africa with her; is that right?

She came to visit with you in Africa?

A Yes.

0 And stayed with you in Africa, visit with your
mother in Africa; is that correct?

A Yes.

0 And one time, though, you brought [Jjjjj to Ryles,
and when you brought her, Brandon was there; is that
correct?

A Yes.

48
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0] And he met her for the only time?
A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] I'm going to showy you this photograph, Ms.
Willingham. Is this a fair representation of you,
Brandon and [Jjjj the one time that you met --
A Yes.
0] —-- before the 14th of January?

MR. ZALKIND: 1I’'d like to offer this, your
Honor.

THE COURT: It may be admitted.

(Exhibit No. 8, admitted; Photograph, Kamilah
willingham and ||}}] T

MR. ZALKIND: Thank you. I’'d like to show it.
(Exhibit No. 8 displayed.)

BY MR. ZALKIND:

0 And the woman on the right, is that |}
I

A Yeah.

0] And you’'re in the middle?

A Yes.

0 And Brandon Winston in on the left-hand side?
A Yes.
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0] And that’s the three of you.
Now, you were shown some texts, is that correct,

that’s now an exhibit; is that right?

A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Can I get the exhibit?
(Pause.)
0 And “in” is you and “out” is Brandon Winston; is

that right?

A I think “out” was messages that I sent to him.
(0] That’s what I mean.
A Yes.
0] I might have got it wrong.
A Okay.
0] So “out” was you.
I'm going to read down. And tell me if this is

incorrect, and I’'ll come to you with the exhibit.

A Okay.

0 So, back on November 11th, Brandon Winston sends
you a text and says, “Yo.” Is that right?

A I haven’'t looked at that part of the texts.

MR. ZALKIND: Your Honor, can I approach the
witness?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. ZALKIND: I'11 come up.

BY MR. ZALKIND:
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A You remember these messages going back and forth;
is that right?
A I remember that we texted each other. I don't
remember the messages.
0 Well, let me -- I can read them, if the Court
wants me to, because it’s an exhibit.

Do you remember him saying, *“Yo”?
A I don't remember him saying that.
0] Well, did you say, “Yo, dawgness”? What does that
mean? Dawgness?
A Yeah.
0] “In Vegas for the weekend.” Were you in Vegas for

the weekend?

A Yeah, I must have been.

0 Okay. And then him saying, “Make me some money
baby.” Do you remember that?

A No.

(0] Okay. It is in the exhibit.

And do you remember him saying, “Reading Infinite
Jest. Happy Thanksgiving, Kami”? Is that right? Do
you remember that?

A Right.
0 Infinite Jest.
MR. ZALKIND: Can I talk to the witness from

here, your Honor? Because I want to show her this.
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THE COURT: You may, yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Okay.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0 Infinite Jest, that’s a book that, when you were
at Pomona College, you took a course with an author,
and it was something very important to you, Infinite

Jest and that author?

A Yeah, the author was.
(0] Yeah. And that author was a famous writer, and he
had committed suicide at some point. And you and

Brandon had talked about that, right?
A Yeah.
0 And Infinite Jest is a book that Brandon had told

you he was reading, because of you, really; is that

right?
A I don't know why he was reading it.
0] Okay. But it is something, Infinite Jest is

something that you’re closely connected to in your

education, in your experience?

A I was connected to the author.

0 And it was a creative-writing course; is that
right?

A Yeah.

(0] Okay.

So, and you say, “0Oooo, I hope you finish it! You
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too, BJ” Okay?

And then on 12/4, that’s December 4th, did you

say, "“Beeee” --with four e’'s -- *“jaaaayy, what are you
up to tonight?” Do you remember that?

A I don't remember that.

(0] Okay.

And do you remember him responding to that,
saying, “Nothing much, you? I have some friends going
to howl at the moon.” Do you remember that?

Do you know Howl at the Moon? Do you know what

that is?
A I think I found out later that it was a bar.
0] Well, you said here, “Hahaha. I keep forgetting

that’s the name of a place and not just a fun thing to

do when you’re drunk.” 1Is that right?
A Yes.
0] In other words, he had communicated to you that he

was going out with some other friends, and didn’t go

out with you that night; is that right?

A Sure. Yes.
0] Okay. And then he asked you, “Haha. Yeah, what
are you up to?” And you said, “Being a bum at home,

contemplating going out.”
That’s in the same conversation; is that right?

A Yeah.
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Q And then on 1/8 you say, “BJ,” right?

A Yes.

0] And he says, “Yo KW,” meaning Kamilah Winston
(sic)?

A Willingham.

0 Wilingham. Sorry about that.

And you ask, “Are you in Cambridge? What are you
doing tonight?” That’s you asking him if he’s in

Cambridge and what he’s doing tonight?

A Yes.

0 And he says, “I'm in Cambridge, however I am not
going out tonight.” And you say, “Why not?” Is that
correct?

A Yes.

0 And he says, “I'm hanging with a friend who just
had surgery. Taking it easy, eating ice cream and
watching TV, etc. So you’re back in action? Glad to
hear it. You miss Africa?”

And then he says, “Are you with [l We should
meet up soon. I'm working at Berkman for j-term. I'm
halfway through.”

And you knew what the Berkman was? It’s at the
Law School. That was something that people who are
students, like you and Mr. Winston, that would be one

of the place that you do school work; is that correct?

54
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A Yeah, for people in a particular program.
0 Right. That was a program he was in. Were you in
that -- you weren’t in that program?
A No.
(0] Okay.

And you say, “I do miss Africa and I miss you.
And tomorrow’s my bday and I want to hang out. I hope
your friend’s okay.”

And bday was your birthday?
A Yes.
0] Okay. And do you remember him saying, “Thanks.
Oh, wow, your birthday. Ugh. How I feel torn cuz I
miss you, too. Maybe we can hang out real soon.”

Do you remember that?
A No.
Q Okay. And do you remember on 1/9 at 1:13 a.m.
saying, “BJ, out was lame. We are going back to my
place. Come over”?

Do you remember inviting him over at one in the
morning?
A No.
0] You don’t remember that, but you know that this is

the text that was admitted?
A Yeah.

0] And do you remember that he didn’t answer to that
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until the next day, *“Hey.”

“Hey. Where you at?” That’s you calling him,
right?

And “I'm at Berkman. You?”

You’'re saying. “Leaving pound now.”

“Let’'s meet. I'm on Everett Street.”

“T just got to my building.” You'’'re saying, *“I
just got to my building. Fucking cold out. Where do
you want to me?”

And he says, “Cc.” And that’s the Cambridge
Common?

A Yes.

0] That'’s a regular place that you would meet when
you were doing that course, --

A Yeah.

0 —-— the recording artists course that you did with
him.

And he says, *“Okay, cool. When? Now?”
“Yeah.”
IIKII

#“T'11 be there in 2.”

Okay? So is that when the two of you -- you met,
right?
A Yes.

Q So you met at the Cambridge Common. And that’s

56
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when you told him about [Jjjjj and your trip to Africa,

right?

A I don't know.

0] And did you bring him a gift back from Africa?
A Yeah. Yeah.

0] Did you? And it was a musical instrument?

A Yes.

Q It was something from the Masai Tribe?

A It was something that I got in the Masai

Territory, yeah.
0] And you brought that for Brandon.

And by the way, before I get into the talk at this

place, when you -- when did you go to Africa?
A In December, until early January.
0] Do you remember sending him -- in December of 2010

do you remember sending him an e-mail and a picture of
yourself from Africa? You don’t remember that?

MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Just take a look at this. Do you remember you
sent him an e-mail from Africa?
A I don't remember sending the e-mail, but I
recognize --

0] The picture?
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A Yeah.
(0] Was that taken in Africa?
A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Your Honor, I’'d like to offer
this?

MS. TAGLIARENI: I would just ask that there be
a little more explanation about, that it’s from her e-
mail address, or something like that.

BY MR. ZALKIND:

Q Is this you, Kamilah Willingham?
A Yes.
0 And it’s to Brandon Winston on his e-mail, and

this is a photo that’s attached to the e-mail? 1Is that

right?

A Yes.

0] And there’s a picture of the photo blown up, here?
A Um hmm.

0 And that is a picture of you, right?

A Yes

0] And this is Brandon saying, “You right now = hot.
We must re-ignite when you get back. Serious.” Do you

remember that?
A No.
Q And do you remember him saying, “Hope Africa is

treating you well”?
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A No.
Q Okay. But it is your e-mail and this is the e-

mail that would have been sent between the two of you?
A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: I offer this.

MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.

THE COURT: It may be admitted.

(Exhibit No. 9, admitted; E-mail/Photo from
Africa To/From Defendant and Kamilah Willingham.)

MR. ZALKIND: 1I’'d like to show the photograph
now.

THE COURT: Certainly.
(Exhibit No. 9 displayed.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Now, so in December -- and by the way, was there

somebody house sitting for you at your house, when you

went --
A Yes. My cousin was staying there.
Q Your cousin was staying there, right?

And you go to Berkman and you and Brandon talk.
For how long when you went in January and you met up
with him, about how long did you two --
A At Cambridge Common?
0] Yeah, at the Cambridge Common, that time?

A I don't know. I don’'t really remember --
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0 About an hour or so?
A I couldn’'t say.
0 But he was telling you he had issues with this

girlfriend he was breaking up with?

A Yeah. I do remember that.

0 And you were telling him you had issues with [}
because of your being together so closely, like you’'re
saying?

A Yes, probably.

THE COURT: Mr. Zalkind, why don’t I interrupt
you before we get in too far into the conversation at
Cambridge Common, to take the morning break, if that’s
okay?

MR. ZALKIND: No problem. No problem.

THE COURT: All right. So we’ll resume at
after eleven.

(Jury exits.)

THE COURT: All right. We’re in recess.
(Recess at 11:00 a.m.)

(In court with jury at 11:23 a.m.)

THE CLERK: Case on trial, your Honor. All
parties are present. All jurors are present.

You’'re reminded you’re still under oath in this
matter.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ZALKIND, Cont.
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0] Good afternoon, Ms. Willingham. Oh, it’s still
morning.
So you went to Cambridge Common, and the two of

you, were you having drinks there at Cambridge Common?

A I don't remember.
0] And that’s one of the places that you would
regularly go to. And that Cambridge Common is near

your house?

A Yeah.

0] And then you left. And then on the 13th of
January did you send Mr. Winston a text, “BJ, it’s time
to come out of hiding. Plans tonight?” Do you

remember that?

A No.
MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness?
THE COURT: You may.
MR. ZALKIND: And this is an exhibit, your
Honor. It’s been admitted.

THE COURT: Yes.

BY MR. ZALKIND:

o) Look at the last line.

A (Witness complies.)

0] Does that refresh your memory that you did say
that?

A Yeah. I mean, I'm sure I did.
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0] So in other words, you were asking him on the 13th
what plans he was having, you wanted to go out with
him; is that correct?

A Right.

(0] And he didn’t answer you on the 13th, but on the
14th he got a hold of you, is that right, and he said

that he was near your place and could he come over?

A Yeah.

0] And do you remember him saying, it’s in Exhibit
No. 4, “Hey, what are you up to tonight?” That was on
the 14th.

A Right.

0] Do you remember that?

A Yeah. I mean, I remember looking at the text.

0] So on the 13th, about 24 hours before, you text
him. There was no answer. Then on the 14th, at 18:47,

5:47 at night, he’s saying, “Hey, what are you up to?”

And you, “Hey, I don't know yet. Hopefully

something fun. You?” Do you remember saying that?
A No, I don't remember saying that.
0] And him saying “Same,” and you saying, “I think

B o- her way over. Figure out something to do and
bring me.” Do you remember that?
A No, I don’'t remember saying that.

MR. ZALKIND: Your Honor, may I approach the
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witness, your Honor?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Can you I just show you this? This is Exhibit 4.

Did you look at these before you came to testify?

A No, I don’t think so.

Q Okay. Is this correct, “I think [l on her
way. Figure out something to do and bring meeeee”?

A Yes.

0] Is that right? And he said, “I'm actually right

by. Can I stop by?” Do you remember that?

A No.

0 Well, he did stop by, right?

A Yes.

0] He came up. And the two of you were there for a

while alone?

A Right.

0 And you had a special drink you wanted to
introduce him to? A Bailey’s concoction with some
other alcohol or something in it?

A I think it’s Bailey’s and hot chocolate.

0 And so you were making these Bailey’s and hot
chocolates and you wanted him to share in that; is that
right?

A Yeah.
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0] And you had -- you’d just come back from Africa,
and you had a lot of pictures from Africa?

A Yes.

Q And you showed him some of those pictures?

A Right.

Q And he was pretty impressed with those pictures.
And J irn fact, had taken a lot of those pictures?
A Right.

0 And two other people arrived that night. |
B carme over?

A Um hmm.

0] Is that right?

A Yes.

0 and |l B shc came over. Who came
first, |l o TR

A I think [ came first.

0 And [ she had a couple of drinks there; is
that right?

A Yeah.

0 But you and Brandon had already been drinking, so

you were ahead of her on that; is that right?

A Yes.
0 And then i came over?
A Yes.

0 And was [ drinking, too?

64
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A I think so.
0 And  vas -- at that point in time Brandon was

a second-year student, you were a senior, you were a

third-year student?

A Yeah.

0 And [ vas a first-year student?

A I don't remember what year he was.

0] And he was a pretty good friend of yours?

A Yeah.

0] And at some point you brought out some cocaine?
A Right.

0] And you put some out on the table.

And by the way, you know that giving cocaine out to

anybody is a crime? You know that?
MS. TAGLIARENTI: Objection.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Have there been any promises to you about not
prosecuting you?
A No, I don’t think so.

0 Did the District Attorney make a promise to you

she wasn’t going to do anything to you for bringing out

that cocaine?

A Not that I remember.

0] And you and Mr. Winston had some of that cocaine.
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And he was a first-year student. And |}l B had

some of that, right?

A Yes.
Q And where did you do that, in the living room?
A Yes.
0 And [ - the apartment has a narrow hallway,

and then it has a, sort of, living room area?
A Right.
0 And [l came over and she was around, she was in

the area?

A Yeah. I think she was in another room.

(0] In another room when 00

A When we were doing cocaine.

0 How long were you doing the cocaine? How long did

that take?
A I don't know. I don’t think it took long.
0 Now while you were there with [ you decided to
send your mother some kind of a video, is that right?
Or a CD?
A Yeah, a video.

MR. ZALKIND: 1I’'d like to offer this, your
Honor. It’s the video.
0 Let me ask you something. This was you and
Brandon Winston and |l I that are in the video;

is that right?
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A Yeah.
MR. ZALKIND: I’'d like to have it marked first.
(Exhibit No. 10, admitted; Video of Defendant,

Kamilah Willingham and |||} TN

(Exhibit No. 10 played in open court.)

(Start time: 11:30 a.m.)

(Stop time: 11:32 a.m.)

BY MR. ZALKIND:

0] And did you send that to your mom?
A Yeah.
0] And by the way, when you were in Africa, I forgot

to ask you, was there a time when you did a call to

Brandon through some kind of a video call?

A Yeah. I think I remember video chatting with him.
Q And you communicated with him from there?

A Yeah.

0] And how long were you and Brandon there alone

before [ came?

A I don't know.

0] And you had three or four drinks?

A Probably three or four total before we left that
night.

0] Before you left, I mean before you left for

Middlesex Lounge, --

A Yeah.
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0 —-— right?

A Yeah.

0 And i had two? Two or three?

A I remember us both having, like, in the three-to-
four-drinks range. I don't remember.

) But she was drinking?

A Yes.

0] And Brandon was drinking?

A Yes.

0 And [ vas drinking?

A Yes.

0 And just the three of you had the cocaine, |}

Brandon and you?

A

Q

Yes.

And about what time did [jjjjj arrive, do you think?
I don't know.

And [l do you know when he arrived?

No.

And at some point there was beer brought onto the

scene, as well as the other drinks?

A

Q

A

Q

Yeah, I think so.
You saw the picture of Brandon on your bed --
Yeah.

—-- with the clothes all over him, and he had beer

can with him. And you said that there was beer
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happening there, too?

A Yes. I think one of, either he or | went to
get beer at some point.

(0] Now, you then went, and you went, the four of you,

you went to the Middlesex Lounge?

A Yes.

0] And that was on Massachusetts Avenue in Cambridge?
A Yes.

(0] And you, in fact, lived on Mass. Ave., but you
lived on a different section of Cambridge than -- the

Middlesex was towards Central Square?

A Yes.

0 And you were closer to Harvard, on the direction
of Porter Square and Arlington?

A Yeah.

(0] And you went over to that club, right, the
Middlesex Lounge. And it’s how big, would you say? It

has a room maybe thirty feet long?

A I don't know. It seemed like about this size.
Q You think it was this big?

A It’'s been a while.

Q You don’t think it was smaller?

A No.

0] Okay.

At any rate, you went over there. And you were
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drinking there, right?
A Right.
0 And Brandon was drinking, and [Jjjjjj was drinking,

and [l vas drinking; is that right?

A Right.

0 And you were dancing around with people you didn’'t
know?

A I remember dancing with at least one other person,
yes.

0 And at some point you became interested in
somebody who was there, a man by the name of Ziggy. He

was an M.I.T./Ph.D. person?
A Yes.
Q And you were dancing with him quite a bit during
the evening.
A Yes.
0 And I remember you saying that [Jjjjj and Brandon
were only dancing, like, in a threesome; is that right?
Remember you said that on direct examination?
A In a group, yeah.
Q Just a group.

But do you remember testifying before the grand
jury about [ and Brandon dancing?
A No.

0 Do you remember you Jjust said [Jjjjj and Brandon
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were dancing? Remember that? Nothing about a

threesome?

A I don't remember saying anything about a threesome
ever.

0 You don’t remember saying anything about a
threesome?

A No, I don't.

0 When I say threesome, I don’'t mean you; just with,

like, three people dancing. I thought you said that on

your direct. Did you say that in your direct?
A I don't remember using the term, threesome.
0 All right. But Brandon and [ were dancing

together; is that right?

A Sure. Like, we were all dancing.

0 And you saw them dancing together; is that right?
A Yes.

0] Do you remember that she was leaning wherever he

went, she was leaning on him?

A Yeah. He was helping hold her up.

(0] Well, you said, “There was a lot of contact
between the two of them.” Do you remember saying that?
A I don't remember saying that.

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor.

THE COURT: You may.
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MS. TAGLIARENI: What page?
MR. ZALKIND: Page 22.

BY MR. ZALKIND:

0] Just read that to yourself.
A (Witness complies.)

Right.
0] Do you remember saying that?
A No, but it sounds accurate.

MR. ZALKIND: Well, I'm going to read it, your
Honor. It’s the grand jury minutes, Page 21.

“Was it after they were line for the bathroom?”

“Yeah, yeah. And they had come back, and it
looked like they were dancing together. But it was a
lot like him holding her up. And she was kind of just
leaning whenever, whenever he put her. So I mean, it
was, like, a lot of, like, contact. But, yeah, I mean,
she was more or less just following him to, like,

whatever direction he had her leaning.”

0] Do you remember saying that?
A I don't remember saying that, but it sounds right.
0] And just for the record, the grand jury, you

testified to the grand jury; is that right?

A Yes.
0 Was it in this courthouse?
A Yes.
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0] And that was on August 2nd of 20122

A That sounds right.

(0] And you were sworn to testify under oath; is that
right?

A Yes.

0 Now, at some point the lights went on in the place

and you had to leave; is that right?

A

Q

came.

Right.
And you went outside. And [Jjjjj came and Brandon

And remember the photograph that was shown by

the District Attorney? And I’ll show you those in a

minute.
A Yes.
0] But you walked outside. And there were a lot of

people outside; is that right? It was closing?

A

Q

away?

Yes.

It was about two o'clock in the morning?
Right.

Is that right?

And you said that you couldn’t get a cab right

Right.
And so you had to walk up the street?
Yeah.

Is that right?
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A Yes.
0 But at some point you just took your camera out

and you took pictures of Brandon and [}

A Right.

0] With his arm around her; is that right?

A Yes.

(0] But then you went to get the cab, and Brandon and

B followed you?

A I remember --
(0] You went out in the street; you went out on Mass.
Ave. looking for a cab?
A We all walked to find a cab.
(0] Well, you were the one that went out -- actually,
you were walking ahead; is that right?
A Right. Yes.
0] And then at some point when you were walking you
took these pictures, right? You turned around and took
those pictures?
A I thought that I’'d taken the pictures before we
started walking, but.
0 But you did take those pictures.

And you got the cab. Did you flag down the cab?
A I don't remember that part.
0 Well, where you got the cab was quite a bit ahead

of the lounge? You went a distance; you said you
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walked for quite a while, when you were talking on
direct. Is that right?

A Yes. I don’t think I was walking, like, blocks
ahead of them, though.

0 Well, I mean, how far did you walk, period? Not

whether you were ahead of them.

A Oh. Yeah, I don't know, I think we walked a few
blocks.
0] And you went first and they were right, they were

following you, right?

A Correct.

0 And you were trying to find a cab, but they were
following you, right?

A Yes.

0] And by the way, when Brandon was in your house, he
brought a bag with him, some kind of like a large

briefcase kind of thing?

A Okay.
0] Do you remember that?
A It makes sense that he would have had a bag with

him, since he was coming over.

0 Well, he asked you permission to leave the bag
there, right, at your house?

A Um, --

0] Do you remember that?
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A No.
0] Okay.

MR. ZALKIND: Let me take a look. It’'s page --
I want to make sure I get it right -- Page 27.

Can I approach the witness, your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Just read it to yourself.
A The highlighted part?
0] Yeah, just the highlighted part.
A (Witness complies.)

Okay.

Q Before you went out to Middlesex that night, were
you aware that Brandon had left the bag in your
apartment?
A Yes.
0 And did you say, “I think, yeah, I think he asked

permission to leave it there”? Do you remember saying
that?
A I don't remember saying that, but I do kind of
remember the bag.

MR. ZALKIND: Well, I’'ll read it, your Honor.
It’s the grand jury minutes from August 2nd, 2012.

The question being asked by the Assistant

District Attorney of Ms. Willingham, Page 27, “Before
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you went out to the Middlesex that night, were you

aware that Brandon had left the bag in your apartment?”
And your answer, “I think, yeah, I think he

asked permission to leave it there.”

BY MR. ZALKIND:

Q Now, you went in this taxicab. It’s a fairly

short ride; is that right?

A Yes.

(0] And you went to where your apartment was. And the

taxicab was parked heading towards Arlington; is that

right?

A Towards Porter Square?

0 Yes.

A Yes.

0] And your apartment was on the left. Let me see if

I can find some photographs.

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] I want you to take a look at this photograph, Ms.
Willingham. Is this a fair representation of the
building that you lived in?
A Yes.

0 And what’s this in the middle here?
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A I don't know what it’s called. A median?

0] Is this a barrier? It goes up a little bit?

A Yeah. It’s like a sidewalk in the middle of the
street.

0 In the middle of the street?

A Yeah.

0 And you were on this side, the left side in the
picture?

A Yeah.

0] And you had to go over the median to get to the

apartment, right?
A Yes.
MR. ZALKIND: Your Honor, I would offer this.
MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.
THE COURT: It may be admitted.
(Exhibit No. 11, admitted; Photograph, Front of
1648 Mass. Ave., Cambridge.)

BY MR. ZALKIND:

0 So the taxicab -- can you see this pictures, Ms.
Willingham?

A No.

Q If you were on the side of the street heading to

Arlington, you’d have to go over the barrier to get to
your apartment; is that right?

A Yes.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IITI - 79

0] And Mr. Winston, he offered to pay for the cab; is

that right?

A Yes.

Q And did you know he didn’t have the money on him?
A I didn’t know that.

0 But is there an ATM or a Bank of America near
there?

A I think so.

0 But at any rate, you and |} I cot out

of the cab; is that right?
A Yeah.
0 And you ran -- I think you were saying on your

direct that arm in arm you ran across the street?

A Okay. Yes.

0] And you had to go over that barrier; is that
right?

A Yes.

(0] And then -- excuse me for a second.

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] I want to show you this, Ms. Willingham. Is this
the front of your apartment?

A Yes.
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0] And are those the stairs there that you have to go
up to get into it?
A Yes.
MR. ZALKIND: May I offer this, your Honor?
MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.
THE COURT: It may be admitted.
(Exhibit No. 12, admitted; Photograph, Front
Stairs, 1648 Mass. Ave.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
) So these are the stairs to the front entrance of
that apartment; is that right?
A Yes.
0] And then you go in the front entrance, and then
there’s a security code on the door to get into the
next level of it?
A Yes.
0] And you’d have to know the code to get in through

that door; is that right?

A Yes.
Q Let me see if I can find that picture.
(Pause.)

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor?
THE COURT: You may.

BY MR. ZALKIND:
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0] I'm showing you this photograph, Ms. Willingham.
Is this where the security code --
A Yes.
Q -—- to get in?
And you’d have to know, over here, that that’s how

you get into, that’s to get in that door?

A Yes.

(0] And you knew that, you knew how to do that?

A Yes.

0] And is this a fair representation of the way that

door looked?
A Yeah.
MR. ZALKIND: May I offer this, your Honor?
MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.
THE COURT: It may be admitted.
(Exhibit No. 13, admitted; Photograph, Security
Panel at Front Door of 1648 Mass. Ave.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0 And if you’'re a -- if you don’t know the code, in
order to get into that apartment somebody would have to
buzz you in; is that right?
A Right.
0] And, in fact, when Brandon went over there
earlier, you buzzed him in?

A Absolutely not. No.
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0] You’re saying that he knew the code?
A Half of the Law School knew the code. A lot of
students lived in my building and in the buildings up

the street that also have codes.

0 You think that he knew the code?

A I'm pretty sure he did. Otherwise, somebody let
him in.

0 All right.

And he’d been over your house a couple of times

before?
A Yeah.
0 Now, you got to the -- I think when you got off,

you at some point saw Brandon?
A In front of my apartment door?
0 In front of your apartment door. And [} was

with you?

A Yes.

0] And she spoke to you in English, right?

A Yes.

0] And when you went to the grand jury you claimed

that she said, in English, clear English, “Why the fuck
is he here?” 1Is that right?

A Yeah.

0] That’s what you claim she was able to say. She

was able to converse; is that right?
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A Yeah.
0] She wasn’t mumbling. She was saying it in

language that you could understand?

A She was standing up.

Q That’s what you were claiming. Is that right?

A Yeah.

0] And you got into bed -- and by the way, when you

were at the Middlesex, let’s go back to the Middlesex a
little bit.

You were disturbed that [jj was acting erratic; is
that right?
A Yes.
0] And she was different than she usually is when you

go out with her?

A Yes.

Q You’ve gone out with her a lot, right?

A Yes.

0] You’ve gone to a lot of clubs with her, drinking

with her?
A Yes.
Q And, in fact, you just went to Africa with her for
a few weeks.

And you were quite concerned. And she was there
for hours. Is that right?

A Yes.
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0] But you didn’t go and get her out of there, did
you?
A I did ask her if she wanted to leave, about an

hour before we did.

0] And she was able to converse with you?

A I mean, she made it clear that she didn’t want to.
0] But you could understand her?

A Yes.

0] You didn’t do anything about, because you were so

upset of what happened, what was happening her, that
you didn’t just get her out of there? You didn’t do
that, did you?

A I don't know how I would have.

0] She was your friend for a long time. And you were
with il and Brandon, and you didn’t say, ‘Come on,
let’s get her out of her, she’s too gone,’ right?

A I said I did try that, and she didn’t want leave.

I couldn’t force her to leave.

Q She said she didn’t want to leave; is that right?
A She seemed like she didn’t want to leave.
0] And she was dancing around, she was chatting up

with people?

A Yes.
0] And she was moving around the space there?
A Yes.
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0 And she was dancing with Brandon?
A Yes, when we were all dancing they were dancing.
0] And Brandon and you -- you saw Brandon a number of

times, not all of the time when you were there, but you
saw him several times, he was right in that crowd; is

that right?

A Yes.

0 And now you go into your bedroom; is that correct?
A Yes.

0] And at some point you say that you’re trying to

get in between Brandon and [l and he’s moving you

around.
A Yes.
Q You didn’t ask him to leave, you didn’t say ‘Go in

the other room, go in my roommate’s room’ at that time?
You didn’t say that, did you?

A No.

0] You didn’t say ‘Brandon, there’s not enough room
for the three of us’? You didn’t say that, did you?

A No.

0 You didn’t say ‘Brandon, come on, it’s too late’?
You didn’t say any of that, did you?

A No.

0 Now, at some point, you claim, you claim, and

you’'ve told us, that you woke up and that Brandon was
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climbing over you; is that right?

A Yes.

0] Is that right?

A Yes.

Q And that he had his tongue in your mouth?

A Yes.

0] And that he mounted you?

A Yes.

0] Is that right?

A Yes.

0 And that he was pressing his body into yours?
A Yes.

0 And that you were brushing him away?

A Yeah, and I moved his hands.

0] And his mouth was everywhere?

A Yes.

0 This is what you told the grand jury; is that
right?

A Correct.

0] And his hands were all over the place? That'’s

what you were telling the grand jury? And his hands
were approaching your crotch?

A Yes.

0 You told the grand jury that? He was kissing your

mouth and your breasts? Do you remember that?
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A Yes.
Q And you said his hands were underneath your tights
and he was pressing his body and you could feel his

penis; is that right?

A Yes.

0] And you yanked his hair? Do you remember that?
A Yes.

0 And then somewhere you said to him, “Hey, you’'re
married.” Is that right?

A Yes.

0 And you said that he had a serious live-in

girlfriend, right?

A I don't know if they were living together.
0 And remember when you said he was married, you
claim, you claim that he said, “Ha, ha. Yeah, I'm

married”? Do you remember that?

A Sure.

Q You said that, right, --
A Yeah.

Q -- to the grand jury?

And that really after this pretty extreme attack
on you that you claim, that what really woke you up,
you told the grand jury, was the naked skin beside you

of

MS. TAGLIARENI: Objection to the form of the
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question.
THE COURT: Sustained in that form.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Did you say anything about you woke up because of

the naked skin that was beside you?

A It alarmed me.

0 Is that right? Did you feel the naked skin of
Il or see the naked skin of R

A Yes.

(0] And after this attack, you started to have a

conversation with Brandon in the bed?

MS. TAGLIARENI: Objection to the form of the
question.

THE COURT: Sustained as to the form.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Do you remember -- here you were, you’ve just been
attacked, and you said, “Who took [l clothes off?2”
A Yeah.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Objection to the form of the
question. May we approach?

THE COURT: Yes.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] What really woke you up was the naked skin that

you saw, of il is that right?
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A I mean, I was awake, but.
0] Well, do you remember saying to the grand jury
that what really woke you was that “When I reached my
hand out, all I could feel was, like, naked skin”?
A I don't remember that.
0 Remember saying that to the grand jury?
A No.
(0] No?
A I don't remember saying that.
MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Just read this to yourself. Read this paragraph,

and then over to here.

A (Witness complies.)
All right.
0] Do you remember saying that?
A It sounds accurate.
0] It sounds accurate. Okay.

So do you remember saying that “What really woke

me up was when I reached my hand out, all
was, like, naked skin”? 1Is that right?
A Yes.

Again, I don't remember saying that.

accurate.

I could feel

But it’'s

89
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0 It sounds accurate to you?

A Yeah.

0 And you asked, “Why is [j naked?” 1Is that
right?

A Yes.

0 Right?

A Yes.

(0] And you claim that -- and you asked, “Who took

B clothes off?” You were having this

conversation?

A Yes.

0] And you smacked his hand; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And you asked, “Why did you undress [l right?
A Yes.

0 You claim he said, “Yeah, I did that.” And do you

remember saying, “He reached back over and it seemed

like he was fondling her breast”?

A Yes.
Q Is that what you said to the grand jury?
A I guess. I don't remember exactly what I said to

the grand jury.
0 Well, let me just ask, “It seemed like he was
fondling her breast.”

MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness, your
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Honor?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:

(Counsel shows witness document.)

A Yes.

0 So did you say that?

A Yes.

0] And do you remember his saying he would sleep on

the couch?

A Yes.

0] He said he would go out and sleep on the couch?
A Yes.

0 And you told him to sleep in Andreea’s room?

A I told him that he could, yeah.

0 Did you say that?

A Yes.

0 In other words, you told him to go and sleep in

Andreea’'s room, right?

A Yes.

0 And, in fact, you had a cat, and he could have
gotten scratched if he was sleeping on the couch; is
that right?

A He could have gotten scratched anywhere, I guess.
) But Andreea’s room would be more comfortable than

the couch, right?
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A Yes.

(0] And she was away?

A Yes.

0 And you told him to go and sleep in Andreea’s
room?

A Yes.

0] You were shaking Andreea, and she wasn’t going to

wake up?
A
Q Right? That'’s what you claim. And you were
pouring water over her?
A over |l ves-
0 B '™ sorry about that.

You were shaking - and she wasn’t going to wake
up, and you were pouring water over her, you claim?
A I did drip some water on her face.
0] And she wasn’t -- and you noticed that her bra was
entangled in her arm or her body; is that right?
A Yes.
0] And you sort of had to untangle it, and you caught
her earring and she didn’'t wake up?
A Yes.
0] You didn’t call for an EMT or something with her?
Now you’d seen her sick, and it looked like she was

acting weird in the Middlesex Lounge, and she was in
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your house not waking up, and you didn’t do anything
about that, did you? You didn’t go out and call the
police?

MS. TAGLIARENI: Objection to the form of the
question, the multiple questions.

THE COURT: I’'ll sustain as compound.

MR. ZALKIND: I'll do it slowly.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
Q Did you call the EMT’'s?
A No, I didn’'t.
Q Did you call 9117?
A No.
0] Did you call 911 because of what Brandon had done

to you? Did you call them in the middle of the night?
A No.

Q And at some point you went into the room where
Brandon was sleeping?

A Yes.

(0] You went into that room. And that was after he
had, you claim, he had done these things to you and
after he had talked to you about |l is that right?
A Yes.

0] And you walked into the room. It was late at
night, and i you couldn’t wake her up; is that

right?

93
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A Yes.

Q And he was half asleep, right?

A Yes.

0 And he said, “I didn’t do anything. We hooked up,

then I feel asleep,” or something like that. 1Is that

what he told you?

A Yes.

0] And you asked him, “Was she awake at any point?”
A Yes.

0 Did you ask him that?

A Yes.

(0] And he said, “Yeah, of course.” Do you remember

him saying that to you?

A Yes.

0] And you left, you left that room, right? You
weren’'t happy with those answers, right?

A Right.

0] And at some point when Brandon was sleeping and
I vas, to your mind, at least what you’re telling

people, is that she was unconscious; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And you went downstairs to get a sandwich?
A Yes.

0] You went next door to the deli?

A Yes.
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0 And you left Brandon and [Jjjjjj in the apartment?
A Yes.
(0] And then you came back, and that sandwich, you

were putting that sandwich up to her mouth?

A Yes.

0] That’s what you were doing?

A I remember offering her some.

0] Offering her some?

A Right.

0] And do you remember at some point Brandon was

leaving the apartment and he came in to see you?

A Yes.

0 And do you remember saying to him, ‘Explain how
B is naked’?

“Can you explain how [Jjjjj is naked?” 1I'm sorry
about that. “Can you explain how [Jjjjj is naked?” Do
you remember asking him that?

A I don't remember asking him that when he came back
into my room.

(0] Before he left he came back, and you two were
talking, right?

A Yes.

0 And did you say, “How am I going to explain to
I she’'s naked?” Do you remember that?

A Yeah. I think I said something like that.
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0 And do you remember him saying, “Do you think
she’ll really be upset?” Do you remember him saying
that?
A Vaguely, yes.
0] Well, vaguely? Let me take a look at what you
said to the grand jury.

MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.

BY MR. ZALKIND:

0 Just read this to yourself.
A (Witness complies.)
0 And so you said to the grand jury that he said to

you, “Do you think she’ll really be upset?” And it’'s
in quotations.

A Yes.

0] And do you remember you saying, “And I said yeah”?
And do you remember Brandon saying, *“Maybe she’ll think
that you did it, or maybe you can tell her that I did
it”? And I said, “Yeah. I think she probably does.”

Do you remember that?

A Right. Yes.
0] And now you’ve seen the texts going back and
forth. You were saying there was a shit storm coming

up, that he’d created a shit storm. Do you remember
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that?

A Yes.

0] And that, “Did you put your p in her v,” right?
A Right.

0 And he was answering you, saying ‘I didn’'t do it’

but he was sorry and he was apologizing to you?
A Right.
Q He’'s saying that, ‘I didn’'t do anything’?
MS. TAGLIARENI: Objection. May we approach?
THE COURT: Yes.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0 Now, before you had texted Brandon, you and [}
agreed not to show you were mad, you were planning to
text him?
A Yes.
0] You were going to be as casual as possible when

you were texting him?

A Yes.

0 And at some point you looked in the trash; is that
right?

A Right.

0] And pretty close to the top of the trash there was

a condom?

A Right.
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0 Right? At the top?
A It was near the top, yes.
0 Kind of close to the top, wasn’t it? And you’d

been home from Africa for about a week at that point,

or two weeks?

A Right.

Q And you lived in that apartment?

A Yes.

(0] And you lived, when you came back from Africa, to

that apartment?

A Yes.

0] And you met up with Brandon on the 18th; is that
right?

A Right.

0 And he told you he and [jjjj were hooking up and he

passed out; is that right?

A I think, yeah, that’s one of the things that he
told me.

0 And then you mentioned the condom, right?

A Right.

0] And he was shaken, right?

A He seemed shaken, yeah.

0] And he was teary-eyed, right?

A Yeah.

0] He seemed freaked out, right?
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A Right.
0 And you weren’'t giving him an opportunity to

explain himself about the condom; is that right?

A Right.

Q And you told him to look in his wallet, right?
A Right.

0 And he said, “It could have been mine. We were
all drunk.” Is that right?

A Right.

MR. ZALKIND: I would like to now read the
stipulation that we’ve agreed to and signed, your
Honor. I’'d like to read the stipulation.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: And the stipulation, can I read
it to the ladies and gentlemen of the jury?

THE COURT: Yes. By all means.

MR. ZALKIND: The Judge will instruct you on a
stipulation. That means both sides totally agree that
what’s in here is correct. And this will be in
evidence.

“Sometime after January 15th but on or before
January 18th, 2011, Ms. Willingham found a condom in a
wastebasket in the bathroom in her apartment located at
1648 Mass. Ave., Apartment No. 53, in Cambridge,

Massachusetts.
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“Ms. Willingham gave this condom to Detective
Mahoney of the Cambridge Police Department on January
18th, 2011.

“On January 26, 2011, the Cambridge Police
Department turned the condom over to the Massachusetts
State Police Crime Lab for analysis.

“Ms. Willingham” -- this is No. 4; I didn’'t
read the numbers.

“Ms. Willingham and Ms. | cave DNA
samples for purposes of developing their DNA profiles
and comparing their DNA with that found on the condom.

“(5) The MSP” Massachusetts State Police,
“Crime Lab conducted DNA testing on the interior and
exterior of the condom and compared Ms. Willingham and
Ms. | :csrective DNA profiles with the DNA
found on the interior and the exterior of the condom.

“(6) On December 8, 2011 Elisse Coronado, DNA
analyst at the MSP” that’s Mass State Police, “Crime
Lab issued a report setting forth the conclusions of
her analysis of the DNA from the condom and comparison
with the DNA profiles of Ms. Willingham and Ms.
I

“On October 14th, 2014, Mr. Winston,
accompanied by his attorney, gave a sample of his DNA”

this is in 2014, “to Amy Brodeur, Assistant Director of
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the Biomedical Forensic Sciences Program at the Boston
University School of Medicine, which was then sent to
the Bode Technology Lab for testing.

“The Bode lab analyzed Mr. Winston'’s DNA sample
and developed Mr. Winston’s DNA profile on October 31,
2014.

“(9) On January 28, 2015, Dr. Robin Cotton,
Director of the Biomedical Forensic Sciences Program at
the Boston University School of Medicine, compared Mr.
Winston’s DNA profile with the DNA found on the condom.

“(10) The DNA testing by the Massachusetts
State Police Crime Laboratory and Ms. Coronado’s
analysis revealed that Ms. || DN2 is not on
the condom.

“(11) The DNA testing done by the Massachusetts
State Police Crime Laboratory and analysis of Ms.
Coronado revealed that Ms. Willingham’s DNA is on the
exterior of the condom.

“(12) The DNA testing done by the Massachusetts
State Police Crime Laboratory, and the analysis of Ms.
Coronado revealed that there is DNA from an unknown
male source on the inside of the condom.

“(13) The DNA testing done by the Bode lab, and
Dr. Cotton’s analysis, revealed that Mr. Winston’s DNA

is not on the condom.”
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This is signed by the Commonwealth, Marian T.
Ryan, by Marisa Tagliareni, Assistant District
Attorney, and for the defendant, Brandon Winston, by
myself.

May I offer this, your Honor?

THE COURT: Well, the stipulation is -- it may
be marked for identification right now. We’ll talk
about whether it goes to the jury or not. But the
content has been read to the jury and is part of the
record.

MR. ZALKIND: Can you just give them an
instruction what a stipulation is?

THE COURT: I will. And I will probably do
this at the end of the trial.

But, ladies and gentlemen, a stipulation is an
agreement between the parties, in this case the
Commonwealth and Mr. Winston, as to factual
information. So you may take this information that was
just read to you in the stipulation as factual and
undisputed.

(A for I.D., admitted; Stipulation Re: DNA
Testing of Condom.)

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
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BY MR. ZALKIND:
0 I want to show you this. Is this a fair

representation of your doorbells?

A Yeah.

0] And what apartment were you in?

A I think I was in 53.

(0] And that’s listed on here? Can you take a look?
A Where am I looking? Just at the buttons?

0] Yeah. Is there a 53 button?

A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: 1I’'d like to offer this, your
Honor.

MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.

THE COURT: It may be admitted as the next
exhibit in order.

(Exhibit No. 14, admitted; Photograph,
Doorbells and Mailboxes at 1648 Mass. Ave.)

MR. ZALKIND: Can I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Ms. Willingham, there is a buzzer system to let
people in from inside the apartment; is that right?
A Yes.

0 And it’s down the corridor of your apartment?
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A Yes.
0] Okay. And I'm going to ask you if this is a fair

representation of that buzzer.

A I think it looks something like that.

Q Is that what it is? 1Is that a fair representation
of it?

A I think so, yes.

MR. ZALKIND: May I offer it, your Honor?

MS. TAGLIARENI: No objection.

THE COURT: It may be admitted;

(Exhibit No. 15, admitted; Photograph, Buzzer
System Inside Apartment.)

MR. ZALKIND: May I approach the witness, your
Honor?

THE COURT: You may.
BY MR. ZALKIND:
0 Now, Ms. Willingham, in your bedroom there was one

window; is that correct?

A Yes.

0 And there was a blind on that window; is that
right?

A Yes.

0] And is this a fair representation of the blind in

that window in that bedroom?

A It was a blind like that.
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0 It was a blind like that?
A Yeah.

MR. ZALKIND: I offer this, your Honor.

MS. TAGLIARENI: I would object at this point,
to the foundation that’s been laid at this point. I do
have an objection.

MR. ZALKIND: I’'1l1l mark it for identification.
I don’t have a problem not putting it in as an exhibit.

THE COURT: Okay. So it will be marked for
identification.

(B for I.D., admitted; Photograph, Bedroom
Window and Blinds.)

BY MR. ZALKIND:
0] Ms. Willingham, are you telling -- I'm just going
to ask you about this.

You’'re saying you didn’t know that condom was
yours, that you had used it?
A I wouldn’t have asked him about it if I knew that.
0] Right at the top of the trash. You were living in

that apartment. And you say you didn’t think it was

yours?
A Of course I didn’t know it was mine.

MR. ZALKIND: Pray your Honor'’'s indulgence.
(Pause.)

MR. ZALKIND: I have no further questions.
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THE COURT: Okay.
Redirect, Ms. Tagliareni?
MS. TAGLIARENI: Thank you.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

Q Ms. Willingham, on cross examination you were

asked about a prior encounter that you’d had with the

defendant, Brandon Winston; is that right?

A Yes.

0] Do you remember when that was?

A I don't remember. I know it was soon after we’d
met.

Q And you indicated that you met him sometime in the

fall of 2009; is that correct?

A Yes,

0 So is it possible that it was that fall?

A I think so, yes.

0] And what had you done that night?

A We had gone to a house party, a party throw at the

house of some Business School students.
0 Were you there with anyone else besides the

defendant on that night?

A I was there with my roommate Andreea.
0] And how did you come to see the defendant on that
night?

A I think I recognized him. I recognized a few
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people there. And I don't remember if we talked or
hung out much during the party, but we did meet up

afterwards, because everyone left at the same time.

0] Do you know where you met up afterwards?

A In the street.

0 And what happened at that point?

A We all had to go home. And he said he lived in

the same direction and offered to walk with us.

0 Who were you with at that time when you say that?
A Me and Andreea, my roommate.

0 And at some point did you get to your apartment?
A Yes.

0 And did Mr. Winston come with you to your
apartment?

A Yes.

0 And what happened at that point?

A He came inside, kind of invited himself in. And I

don't remember when we kissed, but we eventually did
kiss. And then I spent a lot of time with him on top
of me on the couch, kind of like laughingly refusing to
leave.
My roommate was around and she was visibly annoyed.
She said that she was going to make --
MR. ZALKIND: Objection to what the roommate

said, your Honor.
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THE COURT: Sustained as to what the declarant,
the roommate, said.

To the extent that there was any answer to that
or statement to that, it’s stricken from the record.
The jury shall disregard what the person is supposed to
have said.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0 Not with respect to anything that she said, but
what happened at that point?

A She was in the room. I kept telling him, like,
“Okay,” like, *“get off, it’s time for you to go.” And
he just kind of, like, stayed on top of me and was
laughing, shaking his head and laughing.

And eventually he finally did get up. I thought he
was heading towards the door and instead went to my
room, which was on the way to the door, and got into my
bed. And he said, he said that he just wanted to stay
a little while longer and that he would leave after I

fell asleep.

0] And what happened then?

A He eventually left. I didn’t get into the bed wit
him.

0] And after that time were you still friendly with

Brandon Winston?

A Yeah.
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0] You were asked some questions about Exhibit 4,

which were the text messages between you and what

you’ve identified as Brandon Winston. Do you remember
that?

A Yes.

0 You testified that you didn’'t remember some of the

texts; is that right?

A Right.

0 Are you disputing any of the texts or is it that
you just don’t have a specific memory as to each text?
A Yes, that’s right. I’'m not disputing them. Yeah,
I don't remember specifically sending them.

0] Drawing your attention to when you were at the
Middlesex on the night of the 14th and 15th of January,
how did you feel about [JJjjj spending time at the
Middlesex with the defendant?

A Ambivalent. I was relieved that he was helping
take care of her.

Q Were you at all bothered by |} spending time
with the defendant at the Middlesex?

A No.

0] And when you said -- you were asked a question on
cross examination where you said that at one point you
talked to ] at the Middlesex about leaving.

A Yes.
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0 And you indicated that she said that she didn’'t
want to go; is that correct?

A Yeah.

0] What was her demeanor like when she was speaking
to you at that time?

A Obstinate, like annoyed.

0] You were also asked a question about something

I said on cross examination, when she said, “Why the

fuck is he here?” Do you remember that?

A Yes.

0 Where were you and [jjjj when she said that?

A I was on the floor in front of my apartment door,

and she was standing at the door with the key.

0] And at what point in the night was that?

A That was at the very end of the night, when we’d
come back and gotten out of the taxi.

0 And with respect to -- how many windows were in
your bedroom?

A Just one.

0 And you indicated there was some type of blinds on
them; is that correct?

A Yes.

0] And on the night or in the early-morning hours of
the 15th, the night of the 14th into the early-morning

hours of the 15th, do you remember how the blinds were
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positioned?
A No. I kept -- I usually kept them open --

MR. ZALKIND: Objection to what she usually
does.

THE COURT: Sustained.

So at this point, at least, the testimony that
she usually kept them open is stricken from the record
and the jury shall disregard it.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0] What type of blinds were they, to your memory?

A I think they were, like, regular horizontal
blinds.

Q Do you remember if it was one full piece of fabric

or if it was individual slits for blinds?
A I think it was individual slits.
Q And you indicated earlier that there was some

light coming from a common hallway; is that correct?

A Yes.

0] Was that coming from that window?

A Yes.

0 And when you testified to when you woke up a

second time in the middle of the night and you saw

I vhere was the light coming from that enabled you

to see R

A I think it was mostly coming from my window.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IIT - 112

0] And when you say you think, what do you mean by
when you say you think?
A Because it would have been hard for light to reach

me from the hallway. I didn’t have any nightlights, or

anything. And the living room window is pretty far
away. There’s usually light coming in from my window.
0] How well could you see what was -- how well could

you see in your bed at that time, when you woke up that
second time?

A At that distance I could see pretty clearly after
my eyes adjusted.

0 And do you have a specific memory of the defendant

touching [l breasts at that time?

A Yes.

0] You said in front of the grand jury it seemed like
he was touching her breasts. Do you remember that?

A Yes.

0 Why did you say “it seemed like” in front of the

grand jury?

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: I’'1ll see you at sidebar.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0] And drawing your attention back to when you saw

the defendant touching |l breasts, how was she
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positioned at that time?
A She was laying on her side with her back to us and

her arms up, like, kind of under her head or the

pillow.
A And how were you positioned at that time?
A I was right next to her, kind of propped up on my
elbow.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may I have a
moment?

THE COURT: Certainly.
(Pause.)

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:

0 Just briefly, Ms. Willingham, you said that you
met with the defendant at Cambridge Common on January
18th, 2011; is that right?

A Yes.

0 And it’s at that time that you brought up that
you’d found that condom; is that right?

A Yes.

0] Before that time when you were at the Cambridge
Common, had you mentioned anything about the condom to
him prior to that, in any of your other texts or I.M.
conversations?

A No.

Q Had you had any phone calls with him where you had
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mentioned anything about a condom?

A No.
0] Thank you.

MS. TAGLIARENI: I have nothing further.

THE COURT: Okay.

Any recross?

MR. ZALKIND: I just have a few questions.

THE COURT: Yes, Mr. Zalkind.

MR. ZALKIND: I just want to make sure that the
video is marked as an exhibit. I thought it was. Was

that marked as an exhibit?

MS. TAGLIARENI: It was. It’s on the CD, I
believe.

MR. ZALKIND: I thought it was, yeah. Thank
you.

MS. TAGLIARENTI: Um hmm.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ZALKIND:

0 I just want to ask you a few questions about the
very short romantic interlude that you had with him a
week or so after you met him, in your apartment.

A Right.

0] And you were kissing him, right? And he had been
mounting you? Is that right?

A Yes.

(0] And your roommate was, ‘Get him out of here’? 1Is
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that right?

A She was trying to get him out.

0] And he didn’t stop when he was trying to make out
with you; is that right?

A Right.

0 And he went into your bedroom, you went and lied

together in the bedroom; is that right?

A I don't remember lying with him, no.

(0] Were you in the bedroom?

A I went into the bedroom to talk to him when he was
there.

0 You got stern with him? Do you remember, did you

get stern with him?

A Yes.
0] And after that night you worked on the project
with him for -- this was about October that that

happened? October of 20097?
A Right.
0] And after that, you worked with him all the way

through to the spring of 20107?

A Right.

0] And you had him over your house alone?

A Sure.

0] And you met him at different places all over

Cambridge?
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A Yes.
Q And you became good friends with him?
A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Pray your Honor'’'s indulgence.
(Pause.)
MR. ZALKIND: No further questions.
THE COURT: All right.
Thank you, Ms. Willingham. You are excused.
THE WITNESS: Thank you.
(Witness is excused.)

MS. TAGLIARENI: The Commonwealth calls -

B R Svorn .
THE CLERK: Please come forward and follow our
officer and have a seat. And once you’'re seated, if

you’d be kind enough to give and spell your name for
the Court and the court reporter.
THE WITNESS: My name is |||} TGN
MS. TAGLIARENI: Could you spell both your

first and last names?

MS. TAGLIARENI: May I proceed?
THE COURT: Please.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
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0] Good afternoon.

A Good afternoon.

(0] How old are you?

A I'm 28.

0 And when'’s your birthday?

A May 2nd, 1986.

o) 198672

A Yes.

0 Where did you grow up?

A I was born in Russia and moved here when I was

almost nine years old.

0 And when you moved here, where did you live?
A I lived in Brighton for two years and then in
Newton.

0 And when you lived in Newton, who did you live
with?

A My mother.

0] And did you go to school when you came here?
A Yes.

0 And where did you go to high school?

A Newton North High School.

0] Did you go to college after that?

A Yes, I did.

0] Where did you go to college?

A Bentley University in Waltham.
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Q

A

Q

A

And when did you graduate from there?
2008.

And did you know someone named Kamilah Willingham?
Yes, I did.

How do you know her?

We met junior year of high school.

And did you become friends at that time?
Yes. We became friends --

I'm sorry?

Yes. We became friends right away.

And are you still friends with her today?
Yes.

Where do you currently live?

I currently live in Bethel, Maine.

How long have you lived there?

I've lived there about two years.

And who do you live there with?

My fiance” and my baby.

How old is your baby?

Nine months old.

And do you work up in Maine?

I'm mostly a full-time mom and working part time,

helping do property management.

Q

A

What type of property do you manage?

It’s a small lodge for skiers.




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Testimony of Kamilah Willingham and |} 1HIIIENEGEE IITI - 119

0] And what happens there?
A Basically, they book one of the few lodge
residences. And I help with turnover, marketing and

basically just running the lodge.
0] Drawing your attention to January of 2011, were

you working at that time?

A Yes, I was.

0 Where were you working then?

A I was working at Sokolove Law.

0 What were you doing there?

A I was doing online marketing.

0] And where were you living at that time?

A I was still living with my mother in Newton at the
time.

0] Do you know someone named Brandon Winston?
A Yes.

0 And do you see him in court this afternoon?
A Yes.

MR. ZALKIND: Concede identification, your
Honor.

THE COURT: All right. The record will reflect
that the Brandon Winston the witness says she knows is
the defendant in this case.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Thank you.

BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
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0 How did you meet Brandon Winston?

A I met him through Kamilah.

Q And do you recall when you met him?

A I don't remember the date, but it was about a year

prior to 2011, in Cambridge.

Q And where did you meet him?
A We went to Ryles Lounge.
0] And prior to that night when you went to Ryles

Lounge, had you ever met him before?

A No.

0] Was anyone else with you besides you and Brandon
Winston on that night at Ryles?

A Kamilah.

0 And how did you, or who did you go to Ryles with

on that night?

A We went together and he met us there.

0] So when you say “we went together,” who do you
mean?

A Me and Kamilah. Kamilah and I.

0] And drawing your attention to January 14th, 2011,

were you working on that day?

A Yes.

0 And where was -- you indicated you work with a law
firm. Where was that?

A It’s in Wellesley, Massachusetts.
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Q

And you indicated you were living in Newton at

that time; is that right?

A Right.

0] Were you in touch with Kamilah Willingham during
that day?

A Yes.

0] And what generally were you in touch about?

A Just making evening plans. It was a Friday night.
0 Had you recently gone on a trip with Kamilah
Willingham?

A Yes. About a week or two prior to that we had

come back from Africa.

0 And approximately how long were you in Africa with
Kamilah?

A About two weeks.

0 And at some point did you leave work?

A Yes.

0] Where did you go after you left work?

A I went home first.

0] What did you do when you got home?

A Changed out of work clothes, showered and ate, and
go re-dressed for the evening.

0 And after you did all that, what did you do?

A I proceeded to Kamilah’s, I’'m assuming.

0] How did you get to Kamilah’s on that night?
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A

Q

I drove.

And did you have any plans as to what you were

going to do that night at that time?

A

Q

Nothing specific.

Did you have plans to spend the night at

Kamilah’'s?

A

Q

Yes.

Do you remember approximately what time you got to

Kamilah’s on that night?

A

It was probably around seven or eight o'clock in

the evening.

Q

A

Q

When you got there, was anyone else there?
Yes. Brandon was there.

And besides Brandon, was there anyone else that

was there?

A

Q

A

Q

I don't remember.
Was Kamilah there at that time?
Kamilah was there, yeah.

But besides Kamilah and Brandon, you don’t

remember if anyone else was there at that time?

A

Q

No.

During the evening was there ever a time when you

remember someone else was there, --

A

Q

Yes.

—— besides Brandon and Kamilah?
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A Yes.
(0] Who was that?
A I'm sorry, I don't remember his name. But it was

another friend of Kamilah’s that she went to school

with.

0] Did you know that person?

A I've met him on one or two other occasions
briefly.

0 Was his name |}
A Yes, NN

Q But you said you’d only met him once or twice
before; is that right?

A Yes.

0] And what were -- do you recall what Kamilah and

Brandon were doing when you arrived at Kamilah'’s

apartment?

A Just hanging out in the living room.

0 From what you recall, were they drinking?

A I think they were having a drink each.

0 Did you have a drink or drink anything, drink any

alcohol, when you got to Kamilah'’s apartment?

A Yes, we made a drink.
Q Do you recall what you were drinking?
A It was a whiskey sour.

Q And do you recall how many drinks like that you
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had on that evening?

A It was two at her apartment.

Q And when i and Kamilah and Brandon and you
were there, what were you doing?

A Kamilah was getting ready to go out, and we were

just hanging out and waiting.

0 Did Kamilah have a roommate?

A She did.

0] Was the roommate there on that night?

A No, she was out of town.

Q And at any point in the evening, to your

knowledge, did anyone use cocaine?

A Not that I remember.

0] And were you present when anyone was using
cocaine?

A No, not that I remember.

0] At any point were you not in the same room as the

other three people you’ve identified as being in that

apartment?

A Yes.

0] What were you doing when that would happen?

A I went to the bathroom and into the kitchen. I

took a phone call at some point.
0] When you took the phone call, do you remember

where you went?
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A Into Kamilah’s bedroom.
0] And where was everyone else at that point?
A They were in the living room for the majority of

the time.

0] Do you recall how long you were on the phone?
A Probably, like, fifteen, twenty minutes.
Q But at no point in the night did you see anyone

use cocaine; is that right?

A No.

Q Do you remember any discussion about cocaine?
A I don't remember.

0] Did you ever change clothes when you were at

Kamilah’s apartment that night?
A No.
0] Did you go over wearing what you expect to wear

out that night?

A Yes.
0] And what were you wearing on that night?
A I was wearing leggings under my Jjeans, Jjeans, long

knee-high socks and knee-high boots, a tank top and a

long-sleeve zip-up sweater, and a jacket.

0] Underneath your tank top were you wearing anything
else?
A Yeah. I was wearing a bra and underwear, also.

Q At some point was there a decision made to go
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somewhere?

A Yes.

0 And where was there a decision made to go to?

A Middlesex Lounge.

Q And how were you feeling physically at that point?
A At the time before we left?

0 Let me ask you this. At some point did you leave

to go to the Middlesex?

A Yes.

0] Just before you left, how were you feeling
physically?

A It was starting to get hazy.

0] And do you recall how you got to the Middlesex
Lounge?

A Not very well. I know it was a cab, but. I don't
remember.

0 Do you remember going into the Middlesex Lounge?
A Yes.

0 And what do you remember about going into the

Middlesex Lounge?

A

Q

that?

A

Q

Just going in and walking to the bar.

What’s the next thing that you remember after

Waking up the next morning.

When you woke up the next morning, where were you?
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A In Kamilah’s bed.

0] And what were you wearing at that time?

A Just my leggings and socks.

0] At that time did you know how the rest of your

clothes were removed?
A No. I assumed it was Kamilah.
Q Drawing your attention back to when you first got
to Kamilah’s apartment on the night of the 14th and
Brandon Winston was there, how did you feel about that,
that Brandon Winston was there?

MR. ZALKIND: Objection, your Honor.

THE COURT: Let me see you at sidebar.
(Sidebar conference not transcribed at this time.)
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
0 Ms. | vhen you got to Kamilah'’s
apartment that night and you saw that the defendant was

there, now did you feel about that?

A I wasn’'t happy.

0] Why weren’t you happy about that?

A Because we had planned to have a girls’ night.

0 At any point that night, from what you can recall,

were you interested in anything happening romantically
with Brandon Winston?
A No.

0] When you woke up in Kamilah Willingham’s bed, was
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anyone else there?

A Kamilah was there.

0] And what happened at that point when you woke up?
A I got up and went to the bathroom.

0] At some point -- let me ask you this. When you

woke up, was Kamilah Willingham awake?

A No, she was sleeping.
(0] After you went to the bathroom, what did you do?
A I went on the living room couch and stayed there

until Kamilah woke up.

0] To your knowledge -- let me ask you this. At any
point when you woke up, did you see Brandon Winston?

A No.

0] Did you see where any of your clothes were at any

point that morning?

A No.

0] At some point did Kamilah wake up?

A Yes.

Q And did you see her that morning?

A Yes.

0] Where were you when you saw her?

A She came into the living room.

Q At some point was there a decision made to send a

text message to Brandon Winston?

A Yes.
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0] And were you present at that time?
A Yes.
0] Who sent a text message at any point in that day

to Brandon Winston?

A Kamilah.
0] And what phone was she using?
A Her phone.

MS. TAGLIARENI: Your Honor, may I approach?
THE COURT: You may.
BY MS. TAGLIARENI:
Q Ms. BB I ™ showing you what’s been marked
as Exhibit 2. Do you recognize the clothes that you
described earlier as the clothes that are depicted in
that photograph?
A Yes.
0 And is this what you were wearing on the night of

January l1l4th, 2011 when you went to the Middlesex

Lounge?
A Yes.
0] Thank you.

When you were in Africa with Ms. Willingham, did
anything happen romantically between the two of you,
between you and Kamilah?

A No.

0] Were you at all interested in something happening
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between you and Kamilah?
A No. I’'m heterosexual.

MS. TAGLIARENI: If I could just have a moment,
your Honor?

THE COURT: Certainly.
(Pause.)

MS. TAGLIARENI: I have nothing further. Thank
you.

THE COURT: All right. Cross examination.
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ZALKIND:

Q Good afternoon, Ms. | NG

A Good afternoon.

0] You are a very old friend of Kamilah Willingham;
is that right?

A Yes.

0 And you went to Newton North High School since you
were sixteen years of age?

A Yes.

0 And you must have been friends with her now, what,

twelve years or something like that, at this point in

time?
A Yes.
0] And you spent several weeks with her in Africa; is

that right? Two weeks?

A Yes.
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0] And you slept in the same tent?
A Yes.
0 And you visited her mother, you spent time with

her mother?
A Yes.
(0] And Mr. Winston, you had met him only once before;

is that right?

A Yes.

(0] And that’s at Ryles, a club?

A Right.

0] And you knew that he was a pretty good friend of

Kamilah’s; is that right?

A No; I didn’t know of how good of a friend he was.
0] Because you’d never gone out with them before,
right?

A Right.

Q But he just met you for one occasion, right, --
A Right.

Q -- before that night?

And you went out with Kamilah a lot, going out

drinking; is that right?

A Yes.
0] And you sat with Brandon in the apartment?
A Yes.

0] And you had two or three drinks in that apartment;
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is that right?

A Approximately.

(0] Is that correct?

A Right.

Q And they were mixed hard alcohol that you had, --
A Yes.

Q -- the two or three drinks?

A Yes.

0 And then when you went to Middlesex, you had

another drink at Middlesex, that you remember, right?

A I remember being handed a drink.

0 But you drank it, right? Or you didn’t drink it?
A I assume. I don’t know.

0] So you have no memory after you got to Middlesex?
A No.

0] Not anything? Okay.

Now, the leggings, when you woke up you had your

leggings on and your underwear on; is that right?

A Right.

0] And you had eaten dinner before you went out that
night?

A Yes.

0] At your mother’s house?

A Yes.

0] And by the way, were you there when Ms. Willingham
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talked to the Cambridge Police?

A Yes.

Q She did all the talking?

A No. We both talked, I guess.

0] And on January 1l4th and 15th you had broken up

with your boyfriend; is that right? At that point you
were not seeing him?

A I had been single for almost a year at that point,
so there was no recent break-ups.

0] Okay. But you got back together with that same

boyfriend at some point; is that right?

A No.

Q You didn’'t get back together with that same
boyfriend?

A No.

0] Now, the photographs, do you remember those

photographs being taken of you and Kamilah?

A The one that was shown to me on the exhibit?

0 Yeah.

A I don't remember those being taken.

0] So you don’'t have any memory at all of anything,

of the whole night?
A Not past the point where I explained to Marisa,
no.

Q You don’t remember talking to people at Middlesex?
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A No.

0] You don’t remember dancing with people at
Middlesex?

A I don't.

Q You don’t remember falling down at Middlesex?

A No.

0] You don’t remember dancing with Brandon Winston?
A No.

0] You don’t remember making out with Brandon
Winston?

A No.

0 You don’t remember going in a taxi with Brandon
Winston?

A No.

0] You don’t remember running across the street with

Kamilah Willingham?
A No.
Q Now, how do you get into that building? You press

a buzzer and you get let in?

A There’'s two sets of doors. The second one is
locked. Yeah, you have to press a buzzer to get in.
0] You have to press a buzzer to get in, right?

A Right.

0] And then the person that’s upstairs presses a

button and lets you in; is that right?
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A Right.

0] And that’s how you got there that night?
A Prior to going out?

0 Yeah.

A Yes.

0] So you got buzzed in.

And you’'ve been to that apartment many, many times
before; is that right?
A What do you mean, I got buzzed in. I’'m sorry.
I'm confused.

I got buzzed in? Oh, okay. I just can’t hear you

very well.

0] Okay. I'm sorry about that. I’ll slow down.
A Yeah.
(0] You get to the apartment where she lived, where

Kamilah Willingham lived.

A Right.

0] You walk in the front door, right?

A Um hmm.

0] And then you press a button, and then somebody

buzzes and then you open the security door?

A Right.
0] And that'’s what you did that night?
A Yes.

0] And that’s what you always did when you came to
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that apartment?

A Yes.

0] And that’s how you went upstairs to see your
friend Kamilah, and that’s where you Brandon, and
that’s where you met i is that right?

A Right.

0 And that apartment, there’s a long corridor,
right? ©Not long, but there’s a corridor, with a
bathroom off the corridor; is that right?

A Yes.

0 And then there’s Kamilah’s room, and then further
down there’s another room?

A Yes.

0] And then that room, that’s sort of the living
room/dining room?

A Yes.

0] And so where you were hanging out when you were
there was in the common room, right? The living
room/dining room?

A Right.

0 And you didn’'t see any cocaine being used by any

of the three other people?

A No.
Q And you didn’t hear any talk about it?
A No.
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0] But that’s where you were drinking;
correct?
A Right.

is that

IITI - 137

MR. ZALKIND: I pray your Honor'’'s indulgence.

(Pause.)

MR. ZALKIND: I have no further questions.

THE COURT: Okay. Any redirect?

MS. TAGLIARENI: I have nothing further.

THE COURT: Okay. You are excused, Ms.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

(Witness is excused.)

(Testimony concluded.)
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